# Effects of Metals Exposure after Traumatic Brain Injury on

# Learning and Memory



By

Waqar Iqbal

(00000172856)

Supervisor

**Dr. Touqeer Ahmed** 

**Department of Healthcare Biotechnology** 

**Atta-Ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences** 

National University of Sciences and Technology

Islamabad, Pakistan

2019

# Effects of Metals Exposure after Traumatic Brain Injury on

# Learning and Memory



By

## Waqar Iqbal

(00000172856)

Master of Science in Healthcare Biotechnology

Supervisor

## **Dr. Touqeer Ahmed**

Department of Healthcare Biotechnology

Atta-Ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences

National University of Sciences and Technology

Islamabad, Pakistan

# Effects of Metals Exposure after Traumatic Brain Injury on Learning and Memory

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of

Master of Science (MS)

In

Healthcare Biotechnology

By

Waqar Iqbal

(00000172856)

Supervisor

## **Dr. Touqeer Ahmed**

Department of Healthcare Biotechnology Atta-Ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences National University of Sciences and Technology Islamabad, Pakistan

2019

لَسْ عَلَى اللَّهُ الل

## THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

It is certified that the final copy of MS Thesis written by Mr. Waqar Iqbal registration no. 00000172856, of Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences has been vetted by the undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST statutes/ regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS/MPhil Degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Name of Supervisor: Dr. Tougeer Ahmed

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

HOD Healthcare Biotechnology: Dr. Tougeer Ahmed

Date:	

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Principal ASAB: Dr. Hussnain A. Janjua

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

#### DECLARATION

I Waqar Iqbal certify that this research work titled "Effects of Metals Exposure after Traumatic Brain Injury on Learning and Memory" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The work here in was carried out while I was a post-graduate student at Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences, NUST under the supervision of Dr. Touqeer Ahmed. The material that has been used from other sources has been properly acknowledged / referred.

Waqar Iqbal

(00000172856)

## **CERTIFICATE FOR PLAGIARISM**

It is certified that MS Thesis Titled "Effects of Metals Exposure after Traumatic Brain Injury on Learning and Memory" of Mr. Waqar Iqbal, Reg No. 00000172856 has been examined by us. I undertake that:

- a. Thesis has significant new work/knowledge as compared to already publish or are under consideration to be published elsewhere. No sentence, equation, diagram, table, paragraph or section has been copied verbatim from previous work unless it is placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.
- b. The work presented is original and own work of the author (i.e. there is no plagiarism).
  No ideas, processes, results or words of others have been presented as author's own work.
- c. There is no fabrication of data or results that the research is not accurately represented in the records. The thesis has been checked using TURNITIN (a copy of the originality report attached) and found within limits as per HEC plagiarism Policy and instructions issued from time to time.

Signature of Supervisor

#### **Dr. Tougeer Ahmed**

Associate Professor

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB)

National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

## **COPYRIGHT STATEMENT**

- Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the student Waqar Iqbal. Copies (by any process) both in full or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author (Waqar Iqbal); and lodged in the Library of Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), NUST. Details may be obtained by the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.
- The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), NUST, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the ASAB, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Library of Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), NUST, Islamabad.

# This thesis is dedicated to

My Parents & Siblings

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

All Praises to Allah Almighty, the Creator of opportunities and Authority of knowledge, for His help and blessings that enabled me to complete this dissertation. All regards to Holy Prophet (SAW), the everlasting source of guidance and knowledge for humanity.

I am very grateful to my supervisor **Dr. Touqeer Ahmed** (HOD Healthcare Biotechnology ASAB, NUST) for all the guidance and efforts he has put into making this project a reality. Throughout the entire period of my degree he remained very supportive and more like a mentor than a professor, and helped me in becoming a better researcher. I want to express my eternal gratitude to him for the guidance, support, patience, knowledge and enthusiasm. I have a great deal of regard for my GEC members, **Dr. Sadia Zahid** (Assistant Professor ASAB, NUST), **Dr. Sobia Manzoor** (Assistant Professor ASAB, NUST) and **Dr. Arif Ullah Khan** (Dean and Director, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences Riphah International University) for their valuable time and guidance.

I would also like to acknowledge my institution National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST) for providing me the required resources and environment for completion of this project. I am grateful to Principal **Dr. Husnain.A Janjua** for the support and efforts to create a better research environment. A special thanks to **Rector NUST** for promoting the vision of science and technology.

I am very thankful to my research group member Maheen Nawaz. Special thanks to my senior Nafeesa Ishaq, Momina Shahid, Maryam Zahoor and Rabia Hashim for their assistance and guidance. Heartfelt thanks to my seniors in the neurobiology laboratory Habiba Rasheed, Sanila Amber, Sumera Khan, Abida Ahmad and Sana Javed for guiding me devotedly

Acknowledgments

whenever I needed their help and providing a friendly environment. I am very grateful Arooma Jannat and Maryam Khan for their help. Special thanks to my senior, Abu Bakar Siddique, Nimat Ullah and Saijd Iqbal for being available every time and helping me with minor issues. Thanks to my juniors Sara Ishaq, Armeen Hameed and Sohana Siyar for providing me assistance with my lab work. Most importantly, I would like to thank my friends and flat fellows Sufyan Vohra, Syed Abdullah and Zaigham Abbas for always being there for me. I would also like to acknowledge the mice to be a part of my research work.

Finally, I would like to convey my extreme gratitude towards my beloved parents for their prayers and support throughout my studies without which I would have never been able to do so. Their love and guidance always provide me the inspiration and motivational force; I owe them the most of my gratitude.

Wagar Iqbal

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGMENTSI		
TABLE OF CONTENTSII		
LIST OF	FIGURESV	
LIST OF	TABLESVI	
LIST OF	ACRONYMSVII	
ABSTRA	АСТ1	
INTROE	DUCTION	
LITERA	TURE REVIEW	
2.1	Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI):	
2.2	Effect of TBI on neurobehavioral sequelae7	
2.2.1	Effect on Cognitive Behaviour8	
2.2.2	Effect on personalities	
2.2.3	Impulsivities	
2.2.4	Irritability9	
2.2.5	Disturbing instability9	
2.2.6	Apathy9	
2.2.7	Deficits in awareness10	
2.3	Weight-drop models	
2.3.1	Feeney's weight-drops models11	
2.3.2	Shohami's weight-drops models11	
2.3.3	Marmarou's weight-drops models	
2.4	Fluids percussions injury model	
2.5	Controlled Corticals Impact Injury Models14	
2.6	Cryogenic injury model15	
2.7	Role of Secondary Complications in TBI16	
2.8	Metals:	
2.9	Lead	
2.10	Arsenic	
MATERIALS AND METHODS		
3.1	Animals:	

3.2	Ethical Statement:	24
3.3	Feed	24
3.4	Reagents	24
3.5	Study Design	25
3.5.1	Groups Division	25
3.6	Traumatic Brain Injury	27
3.7	Injections and Anaesthesia	27
3.8	Metals Treatment	27
3.9	Neurological Severity Score (NSS)	
3.10	Behavioral Analysis	
3.10.1	Morris Water Maze Test (MWM)	
3.10.2	Open Field Test:	
3.10.3	Novel Object Recognition (NOR)	
3.10.4	Elevated Plus Maze (EPM)	
3.10.5	Fear Conditioning	
3.10.6	Contextual Fear Conditioning	
3.11	Statistical Analysis	35
RESUL	ГЅ	
4.1	Effect of metals exposure after Trauma on cognitive behaviour	
4.2	Effects of metals exposure after trauma on learning and memory	
4.2.1	Effects of metals exposure after trauma on spatial memory	
4.2.2	Effects of metals exposure after trauma on fear memory	41
4.3	Effects of metals exposure after trauma on recognition memory	43
4.4	Effects of metals exposure after trauma on anxiety	45
4.4.1	Effects of metals exposure after trauma on anxiety and activity	45
4.4.2	Effect of metals exposure on anxiety and exploratory activity	47
DISCUS	SION	49
CONCLUSION		54
FUTURE ASPECTS		55
REFERENCES		56

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3-1: The schematic diagram of the research work	26
Figure 4-1 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on cognition	37
Figure 4-2 Effects of metal exposure after trauma on spatial memory	39
Figure 4-3: Morris Probe Trail	40
Figure 4-4: Effects of metals exposure on fear memory	42
Figure 4-5 Effect of metals exposure on object recognition memory:	44
Figure 4-6 Effects of metals exposure on anxiety and activity:	46
Figure 4-7 Effects of metals exposure on anxiety and exploration:	48

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1: Group distribution and their treatment	26
Table 3-2 NSS scoring	29
Table 3-3 the direction release of the mice for MWM	32

# LIST OF ACRONYMS

Ach	Acetylcholine
nAChRs	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors
mAChRs	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptors
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
α7 nAChR	Alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
α4β2 nAChR	Alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
Acetyl-CoA	Acetyl coenzyme A
CNS	Central nervous system
PNS	Peripheral nervous system
Al	Aluminium
As	Arsenic
Pb	Lead
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
ANOVA	Analysis of variance

Abstract

### ABSTRACT

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a major reason of mortality around the world. TBI is linked with severe deficits in sensorimotor function, memory personality and cognitive behaviour. Heavy metals are known neurotoxicant, their chronic exposure cause cognitive and memory deficits. Aluminium, arsenic and lead are considered to be the most significant causes of neurological impairment. However, their combined effect is yet to be known. This study aims to evaluate the effects caused by the exposure of these metals on cognition, learning and memory. The design of the experiment included six groups of Balb/c mice. Except the control group the five group were induced with the focal head injury using the weight-drop technique. Control and Trauma were given normal saline water while PoTAl (aluminium 20 mg/kg), PoTPb (lead 20 mg/kg), PoTAs (arsenic 20 mg/kg) and PoTM (aluminium, lead and arsenic 20mg/kg each) were given metal doses in water. Neurological severity score (NSS) was measured at different time intervals to check severity of trauma. Effects of these metals exposure after trauma was assessed by behavioral tests like Morris water maze (MWM), Novel object recognition (NOR), Elevated plus maze (EPM), Fear conditioning and contextual fear and open field test were conducted. The result of each test was presented by a graph. The graph of Morris water maze test, Fear conditioning and contextual fear and novel object recognition test revealed an aggravated level of learning and memory in metals treated mice. Elevated plus maze test and the open field test showed high level of anxiety and depression in metals treated mice. Further studies for in-vitro verification of these results and evaluation of neuronal effects of metals in combination after trauma is required to develop better regime of drug

Chapter 1

Introduction

## **INTRODUCTION**

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) and its consequences lead mortality among people of 45 years old (Marshall, 2000). Brain damage occurring after severe head trauma is considered to be a foremost causing of poor result (W. Finnie, 2001). In order to understand the pathophysiology of this condition many researches have been done on experimental models on development of brain injury in the past decade. (Dixon et al., 1988, Faden et al., 1989, Mattson and Scheff, 1994, OMMAYA, 1995, Chimakurthy and Murthy, 2010). The Design of novel therapeutic strategies should be based on the identification of bio-chemical pathways that are activated in the injured brain and the inhibition of harmful processes at various levels (transcription, translation, receptor activation or intracellular transduction mechanisms), or the activation of protecting mechanisms (Laurer and McIntosh, 1999).

Arsenic and lead are neurotoxic and distributed naturally in the atmosphere. All individuals are evident to trace amount of these metals; yet, if the amount of exposure to arsenic and copper exceeds above trace levels are related to the founding of copper (Diazbarriga et al., 1993). According to evidence, in the childhood if the exposure to lead is relatively low (10 mg/dl of blood) it leads to intellectual insufficiencies (Control, 1991, Christoforidou et al., 2013). Studies on animals have added awareness into the effect of lead contact on the neural system. The frequent studies in the animal showed that the metabolic rate of the bio-genic amines is affected by lead (Dubas et al., 1978, Meredith et al., 1988, Cory-Slechta, 1995). The effects of lead studied in animals at different levels of neurochemistry, specifically, metabolism, endorsement, production, storage, and release, due to the role of these systems in the mechanism of main behavioural purposes.

Introduction

Arsenic disturb the central and peripheral nervous systems together. An acute exposure of 1 mg/kg/day, in persons central nervous system may cause encephalopathy (Armstrong et al., 1984). An exposure of chronic and intermediate duration to lower levels of 0.02– 0.6 mg/kg/day are considered to cause peripheral neuropathy (Franzblau and Lilis, 1989) of both sensory and motor pathways, which causes deterioration and demyelination in axon distally (Goebel et al., 1990). In San Luis Potosí it was described that children in contact with arsenic of about 0.600 mg/kg of soil and 0.1001 mg/kg of dust and other metalloids alters the central nervous system, causing sleep disturbances, inability to perform activities, and auditory problems (Diazbarriga et al., 1993, Olivo et al., 1995).

Arsenic is considered to be the most neurotoxic metal polluting the environment. Humans are exposed to arsenic through contaminated drinking water. Exposure of arsenic causes lung, skin and bladder cancers, diseases of vascular system, hypertension, cellular intrusion and diabetic diseases (ATSDR, 2007). Although Arsenic has carcinogenic potential shown by most of the studies, it also affect the cognitive development studied in rodents by Rodriguez et al. (Rodri' guez et al., 2001), but, its effects on nervous system received less attention. Although studies relating to the exposure of arsenic on human population effecting cognition is scarce, but it have been considered, based on research through epidemiological studies from countries which have considerably high concentration of arsenic than the US (Calderón et al., 2003, Wasserman and Sandelin, 2004, von Ehrenstein et al., 2007). Major part of the studies conducted so far have focused on progenies; and discrepancies in erudition and cognition, mainly in hippocampal reliant activities, consequent critical and prolonged exposures of arsenic have been studied. Whereas, on the cellular level its mechanisms of action are still to be reported.

The most commonly used nonferrous metal Aluminium, is stated to be a neurotoxicity causing agent that can biochemically persuade deficits in brains by disturbing level of neurotransmitter and producing ROS species causing in stress oxidation. Reports for the

Introduction

assessment of neuroprotective consequence of Ginkgo bilobas extracts (210 mg/kg for 25 days) in provoking aluminium-induced neurotoxic effects by examining definite factors like blood aluminium level, brain aluminium concentration, brain oxidative stress biomarkers' concentration, and brain acetyl cholinesterase activity.

Popular aluminium uses via oral and inhalation routes have reached a high percentage of intake. Aluminium amalgams are mostly practiced in the production of various pharmaceutical merchandises such as antacid, antiperspirant, abrasive agent and food flavourings. The prevalence of Alzheimer's disease is epidemiologically associated with persistent aluminium toxicity (Bondy, 2010). Recent study shows the presence of additional aluminium associated with Alzheimer's patients in the brains (Andrási et al., 2005). Furthermore, reports about workers who have exposure to aluminium dust particles working in industries had the suggestion of damaged cognitive function (Meyer-Baron et al., 2007). Furthermore, a failure in pictorial retention was practically detected in haemodialytic subjects who presented higher concentration of aluminium levels in serum (Bolla et al., 1992).

Neurotoxicity occur by aluminium is mainly facilitated by its pro-oxidant characteristics as well as its ability to persuade/aggravate stress oxidation and improved fats peroxidation (Members et al., 2012). A promising actions related to aluminium inducing neurotoxic effects suggesting that it can be the cause produced from its pro-oxidant mechanism, it endorses natural oxidation in vitro and in vivo, aiding: (1) peroxidation of iron inducing fats accumulation, (2) peroxidation of non-iron inducing fats , (3) oxidation of non-iron mediating NADH, and (4) corrosion of non-iron mediating hydroxyl radical (Exley, 2004). Various studies emphasized that aluminium accretion is associated in the tissue occurring due to the site of accumulation causing protruding aggravation in oxidative stress and apoptosis. The existence of aluminium indicates an upsurge in OH– and this one predecessors

Introduction

(peroxides and O2-) which could be merely be nullified by straight permitted radical vultures, which alters the redox reactions in the cell (Sharma and Sharma, 2012).

Furthermore, aluminium has been revealed to be the reason causing significant malfunction in numerous neurotransmitter relating activity (Abu-Taweel et al., 2012), augmented deposition of amyloid, changed energy breakdown, compromised homeostasis of calcium and worsen provocative reaction. Hence, aluminium brought brain malfunction could be the reason to cause these types of processes or the relations among them. The described neurotoxic effects and malfunction activity of brain by aluminium revealed as substantial diminishing of memory and notable worsening in erudition ability of aluminium-treated subjects.

Aluminium brought neurotoxic effects is the greatest vital feature of aluminium poisonousness due to the neurons seem to be predominantly susceptible to be confronted by open radicals for these possible causes: (a) low content of the glutathione concentration (an imperative normal antioxidant) , (b) high percentage of poly unsaturated lipid concentration in their membranes , and (c) considerable amounts of oxygen is required for brain metabolism (Christen, 2000). This study was conducted to check the exposure of these metals after inducing trauma in mice. To assess how the behaviour of mice especially learning and memory is effected after the exposure of metals.

## LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI):

TBI is an outcome of peripheral force producing instant mechanical disturbance of the tissue of brain and hindered pathogenicity which mutually interpose extensive neurodegeneration (Ghajar, 2000, Marshall, 2000). Its diversity can be depend upon brain injury type, brain damage distribution and damage mechanism. The damage it cause to the brain nerve could be diffused or central whereas the conditions of wound govern the virtual degree causing focal and diffused traumatic progresses. Focal brain damage is triggered by straight influence to the head region, and results in vascular injury, cortical contusion, and haemorrhages complemented by ischemia. While diffused brain damage categorised by diffused axonal damage is triggered by mechanical navies. Depending upon the nature by which crucial injury is caused, several cell produce a provoke response which can deteriorate the damage.

TBI is a prominent source resulting in demise and debility in the industrialized countries, (Ghajar, 2000, Peden, 2005) also epitomises an increasing health problem in under developed regions (Kaufmann and Cardoso, 1992, Peden, 2005) and so even a modest result enhancement can be the reason to have foremost public health consequences. Treatments mainly focus on disturbance or inhibitory effect of the subordinate injury cascades although the instant death of cell caused due to the preliminary impact produced on the brain tissue is irretrievable. Nevertheless, no operational neuroprotective behaviour is been studied so far (Kofke, 1993, Yilmaz et al., 2007). For improved sympathetic of the subordinate injury courses and on behalf of the improvement on unique therapeutic mechanism, use of rodent prototypes is critical. While large animals may be required to examine particular features of Traumatic brain injury, rodents have appeared as the most usually used type, since they are simply accessible to many

research workers, normative documents for an extensive variety of functional and behavioural variances in rats and mice are highly recognized and the use of transgenic technologies permit to generate rodents line by precise heritable modifications. A large quantity of mice and rat prototypes of traumatic brain injury are being established to assess neurotoxicity. For this process some of the commonly used models of rodents are weight drop injuries model, fluids percussions injuries model, and cortical contusions injuries model.

## 2.2 Effect of TBI on neurobehavioral sequelae

There are a few high-chance areas defenseless with the impacts of neurotrauma, yet note that these cerebrum locales are critical nodal focuses in frontal and subcortical circuits that sub serve insight and social conduct. In particular, three significant frontal-sub-cortical circuits have significant jobs in non-engine types of conduct. A track emerging in the dorso-parallel prefrontal cortex tweaks basic leadership capacities, for example, working memory, execution, critical thinking, and mental adaptability. One more, emerging from cells in the orbitofrontal cortex, assumes a basic job in instinctive reflexive social practices and the ability to self-correct and self-monitering in genuine time inside a social setting.

A third course fundamental in the front cingulated modulate the behaviors associated with reward and motivation. In spite of the fact that not a frontal subcortical circuit, in essence, tracks crossing average transient districts assume significant jobs in intermittent memorial and novel learnings, just as the flat reconciliation of enthusiastic reminiscence with existing practice and continuous appraisal of motivation striking nature. Subsequently, the run of the mill locales powerless to harm related with TBI cover impressively with crucial districts and nodals focuses in these types of frontals subcortically activated circuit, constructing it promptly beguiling that issues with discernment, social comportment, and official capacity, just as an expanded relative danger of explicit mental issue could be regular subsequently TBI.

Literature Review

#### 2.2.1 Effect on Cognitive Behaviour

Acute and chronic cognitive complexities are the most widely recognized grievances after TBI (Silver et al., 1994, Whyte et al., 1996) and be able to display substantial difficulties to free livings, communal readjustment, families lives, and come back to works (Ben-Yishay and Diller, 1993, Cicerone et al., 2000). Frontal basic leadership capacities (critical thinking, set moving, motivation control, self-observing), consideration, momentary memories and learnings, swiftness of data handling, and discourse and linguistic capacities can be intellectual fields regularly weakened (Mattson and Levin, 1990, Lehtonen et al., 2005, O'Jile et al., 2006, Rassovsky et al., 2006, Mathias and Wheaton, 2007). Damage to average fleeting districts, the dorsolaterally prefrontal's cortex, and subcortically white issue linking these areas promptly represent these troubles (Vakil, 2005).

#### 2.2.2 Effect on personalities

The word character alteration is normally utilized by survivor and families to depict alteration in the regulation of behavioural and emotional conduct after cerebrum damage. In certain people, this presents as embellishment of pre-damage qualities. It is significant in this setting to get some information about varieties in the recurrence or potentially quality of practices or attributes that may have been available before the damage occurred. (McMillan and Glucksman, 1987). On the other hand, these practices can present as fundamental variety accordingly examples. A few normal gatherings of side effects that depict the "personality changes" are identifiable.

### 2.2.3 Impulsivities

This might be clear in oral articulations, corporeal activities, on the spot judgment calls, and misguided thinking spilling out of the inability to completely think about the ramifications of a assumed activity. This can be intently interrelated to the idea of improvement boundednesses, in which the person reacts to the furthermost notable sign in nature or joins extreme remarkable

quality to a specific sign, regardless of recently decided foci of consideration or needs, a disorder regularly found in people with frontals cortically harm or deterioration from a decent diversity of clutters (Mathias and Wheaton, 2007).

#### 2.2.4 Irritability

Survivors are characterized as increasingly terrible tempered or all the more effectively irritated. Reactions can go from verbal out-blasts to vicious and assaultive conduct. Albeit a specific sign may be seen as an authentic exacerbation, the reaction is normally out of extent to the hastening motivating force. This modulatory inadequacy varies in power, beginning, and length from the pre-damage design for some people. This conduct dis-restraint is in all likelihood owing to harm to orbitally frontals locales and grey issue associations beside the orbitofrontals subcortically hardware of community demeanour (Arciniegas et al., 2005).

#### 2.2.5 Disturbing instability

Survivors and family regularly depict luxurious showcases of emotional articulation, out of extent to the hastening improvement and the pre-damage scope of reactions. Extra highlights incorporate a paroxysmal beginning, brief term, and consequent regret. This marvel happens in other focal sensory system issue and has been called neurotic effect, full of feeling obligation, pseudobulbar influence, and emotional incontinence, (Lehtonen et al., 2005)(61) and is in all likelihood associated to disturbance of "top-down" variety of limbi's reactions to enthusiastic upgrades by frontals cortex (McMillan and Glucksman, 1987).

#### 2.2.6 Apathy

Protests of spurred conduct could be of worry to relatives and could be a boundary to advancement in convalescence agendas. It is regularly mixed up as lethargy or discouragement and might be connected to hostility when endeavors to include the person in exercises resulting in little intrigue could hasten assaultivity conduct. (Kant et al., 1998, McAllister, 2011)

originate that disregard happened in 62% of their example. (Andersson et al., 1999) establish that practically 50% of the people with TBI resulting in noteworthy degree of detachment. Shortages in persuaded conduct could happen in relationship with damage to the hardware of "remunerate" (Chau et al., 2004) Significant models focuses in these types of hardware incorporate the amygdalae, hippocampus activities, caudated, entorhinal and cingulated cortex, the ventrally tormented territory, and the average forebrains group. Catechol-aminer gic frameworks, especially the mesolimbically dopaminergics framework, seem to assume basic jobs in the regulation of the remuneration framework (Ruff et al., 1989).

#### 2.2.7 Deficits in awareness

The variation in personality as depicted above are every now and again increasingly hard to address in light of the fact that the harmed individual might be not able value that their conduct is diverse after the damage (Freedman et al., 1987). Of intrigue is that people with Traumatic Brain Injury can be least inclined to know about variations in conduct and official capacity than fluctuations in increasingly solid fields, for example, motion function. Additionally, the level of mindfulness has been found to connect with practical and professional outcome in many (Binder et al., 1997), in spite of the fact that not everyone thinks about.

#### 2.3 Weight-drop models

A pioneer and standard model for TBI, uses only gravitational force of freely falling and guided load to make a central harm to mind. The anesthetized mice (Chen et al., 1996), or rodent (Feeney et al., 1981), is added to impacting items or base of the damage device and the skull is revealed free of craniotomy. The seriousness of cerebral harm may viably be controlled through the alteration of the stature and weight used in harm. The weight drop displays quick, basic and profitable strategy. One of the bother incorporates the extended probability of skull splits at bigger extent of seriousness of the damage, and furthermore the probability of a bounce back damage (Feeney et al., 1981). The seriousness of head injury can be fluctuated by utilizing various loads as well as statures of the weight-drops. The great passing degree is because of apnoea which could be decreased by initial respirational help and by using creatures with a specific age and proper weight (Shapira et al., 1988, RAGHUPATHI et al., 2000).

### 2.3.1 Feeney's weight-drops models

Commonly this type of rodent models in which an effect is shipped to the unblemished dura (Dail et al., 1981, Feeney et al., 1981) outcomes in a cortical injury with discharge (Morales et al., 2005) and harm of the blood-mind boundary (Bellander et al., 1996, Mikawa et al., 1996). Fiery procedures leading to the cause of incitement of microglial cells and astrocyte, actuation of the supplement framework and attack of neutrophilic cells and macrophage (UHL et al., 1994, Bellander et al., 1996, Mikawa et al., 1996, Holmin et al., 1997, Allen et al., 2000, Morales et al., 2005). Conceded microcirculatory aggravations and cortical spreading discouragement (Holmin et al., 1997) have additionally been accounted for in these models. The example of post-horrible cell demise relies upon the seriousness of effect (Lindh et al., 2008). In spite of the fact that the essential damage is generally central, diffusely scattered axonal damage has been seen in the neutrophil of the cortical sore (Shapira et al., 1988, Chen et al., 1996, Morales et al., 2005).

#### 2.3.2 Shohami's weight-drops models

It's a modified weight drop model which was later exhibited for shut head damage utilizing a weight-drop effecting other portion of the unprotected skull in mouse and rat (Chen et al., 1996, Morales et al., 2005) The damage seriousness in these models could be reliant on the bulk quantity and dropping stature of the weights utilized. In this way, heavier loads or potentially expanded falling tallness delivers an ipsilateral cortical cerebrum wound and blood-mind hindrance unsettling influence pursued by mind oedema (Chen et al., 1996, Flierl et al., 2009), actuation of the supplement framework, cell passing developing after some time from the injury site and attack of fiery cells (Shohami et al., 1988, Leinhase et al., 2006, Flierl et al., 2009).

Another model utilizing lighter loads and additionally shorter fall statures brought about a concussive-like cerebrum damage, two-sided cell misfortune, brief span of mind oedema and durable psychological deficiencies (Leinhase et al., 2006). Besides, reciprocal diffuse mind harm, cell demise (respective and underneath the effect site), and provocative reactions were accounted for (Zohar et al., 2003, Tashlykov et al., 2007, Tweedie et al., 2007).

When all is said in done mellow weight-drop wounds are related with diffuse damage design anyway progressively serious weight-drop wounds generate a central injury. This drawback of the weight drop model was the highly changeability cause due to the damage seriousness. A significant improvement in these models can be that it tends to be immediately accomplished in the presence of gas anaesthesia and subsequently permits neurologically severity scores following damage (Chen et al., 1996, Flierl et al., 2009). In this way clinically critical randomizations of creatures into the different treatments gatherings is conceivable.

#### 2.3.3 Marmarou's weight-drops models

To display "entire head" movement bringing about diffuse mind damage, (Marmarou et al., 1994) enables the head to quicken at effect. Contingent upon the seriousness of damage, the actuated mind damage brings about haemorrhages, neural cells passing, astrogliotic cells, diffused axially damage, and cytotoxicity caused to cerebrum oedema (Marmarou et al., 1994, Nawashiro et al., 1998, Cernak, 2005, Morales et al., 2005, Ding et al., 2009). This impact increasing speed model utilizing weight-drops can be valuable models for examining diffused cerebrum wounds going from mellow to unembellished. Full composed, weight-drop model convey a clear method to evaluate mind wounds near the clinical situations going from central to diffused cerebrum wounds.

Literature Review

#### 2.4 Fluids percussions injury model

Fluids percussions injury (FPI) models are used to induce traumatic brain injury by quickly infusing liquid bulks onto the unblemished dural surface of the brain. The craniotomy can be made by halfway (CFP, MFP), over the sagittally sutures halfway among bregmas and lambdas, or horizontally (LFP), on the parietals cortices. Evaluated intensities of damage seriousness could be accomplished by changing the power of the liquid weight beat. Similar in different other Traumatic Brain Injury model, a high demise degree because of apnoea is apparent (Levasseur et al., 1989, Yamaki et al., 1998).

The focal and horizontal liquid percussion damage models were adjusted to rodents in 1987 and in 1989 separately (Dixon et al., 1987, McINTOSH et al., 1987). These models produce a blended sort of cerebrum damage. Horrible pathology incorporates cortical wound, discharge and a cytotoxic as well as cacogenic mind oedema either normally reciprocal for CFP damage or ipsilateral for LFP damage (Bellander et al., 1996, Cernak, 2005, Morales et al., 2005).

The postponed advancement of cerebrum harm is joined by astrogliosis, diffuse axonal damage, fiery occasions, cortical spreading sadness and neuro-degeneration (Morales et al., 2005). Independent of damage area, FPI prompts intellectual issue (Morales et al., 2005) (Hoshino et al., 1998, Yamaki et al., 1998, Thompson et al., 2005) and consequently it very well may be a valuable model for post-horrible dementia. In addition, FPI brought horizontally is a proper model for post-awful epilepsy (Pitkänen et al., 2009).

The FPI model has been the most generally utilized model for TBI in the rodents. In any case, for both CFP and LFP variability's in damage parameters concerning research facilities are show. For example, starting examinations utilizing LFP saw an ipsilateral mind damage (Smith et al., 1991) while some later investigations saw a broad, two-sided cerebrum damage (Soares et al., 1992, Smith et al., 1994, Pierce et al., 1996). One basic factor deciding the result

seriousness in this model is by all accounts the situating of the brain skull as effectively a little move in the craniotomy site is related with checked contrasts in neurological result, sore area and size (Vink et al., 2001, Floyd et al., 2002). Consequently, setting up a FPI model requests broad methodological calibrating to get an institutionalized result in regard to its seriousness and patho-physiology. When the FPI model is built up, the initiated cerebrum injury has all the earmarks of being profoundly regeneratable.

To allow the utilization of transgenically produced mouse, (Carbonell et al., 1998) adjusted the FPI models to the rodents. Like the rodent, the forced damage in mouse prompts intellectual issue, microglial initiation and neuronal and axonal damage (Carbonell et al., 1998, Carbonell and Grady, 1999, Spain et al., 2010).

## 2.5 Controlled Corticals Impact Injury Models

Controlled cortical effect (CCI) models apply a pneumatic gun to twist horizontally the uncovered Durras and give well-ordered influence and computable biomechanically constraints. This model was adjusted to rodent in 1991 (Dixon et al., 1991) and to mouse in 1995 (SMITH et al., 1995) and produces evaluated, reproducible mind harm.

Dependent on the seriousness of harm, CCI brings about ipsilateral damage with cortical wound, discharge and blood-cerebrum obstruction disturbance (Dhillon et al., 1994). Neural cell passage and deteriorating activities, astrogliotism, initiation of microglial cells, fiery occasions, diffused axonal damage, subjective shortfalls, excitotoxicity and spreading in cortical regions despondencies are accounted for to supervene (Adelson et al., 1998, KOSHINAGA et al., 2000, Chen et al., 2008). For the most part concerning cerebrum oedema, CCI is a significant exemplary as it likely reasons to cause cytotoxicity and a cacogenic mind oedema (Schuhmann et al., 2003, Elliott et al., 2008) and in this way it uncovers the clinical circumstance of post-horrendous improvement of mind oedema. For the most part central mind

damage brought about by CCI making this model to a valuable device for examining the pathophysiology of the auxiliary procedures actuated by damage. Astoundingly, CCI in mice and rats is related with post-traumatic seizure movement like the damage actuated epilepsy in people (Hunt et al., 2009, Statler et al., 2009). Along these lines this model is prevalently appropriate to think about patho systems of post-horrendous epilepsy.

#### 2.6 Cryogenic injury model

The procedure of cryogenic damage in animals (Pappius, 1981, Tengvar and Olsson, 1982) prompts a central cerebrum injury. The cerebrum damage in this model is for the most part delivered by generating a chilly bar to the uncovered dura in rodents (for example on the parietal cortices utilizing a copper chamber loaded up with a blend of CH3)2CO and dry ice (-78°C) (Rákos et al., 2007) or brain skull in mice (for example on the parietal cortex utilizing a copper chamber loaded up with fluid nitrogen (-183°C) (Raslan et al., 2010). In certain examines, a dried ice capsule was straightforwardly smeared to the cranium of the rodent or mice (Giralt et al., 2002, Pifarré et al., 2010). Diverse harm brutalities can be accomplished by shifting the interaction interval to the uncovered cortices (Eriskat et al., 2003).

In rodents, cortical cryogenic damage brings about a central cerebrum injury and disappointment of the blood-mind boundary (Rákos et al., 2007, Raslan et al., 2010). The essential sore is circled by a penumbras territory where optional procedures can be the reason to an expansion of sore size joined by neuronal cells demise and cytotoxicity and cacogenic oedema (Eriskat et al., 2003, Stoffel et al., 2004). These auxiliary procedures likewise incorporate enactment of astrocytes and aggravation (Bordey et al., 2000, Penkowa et al., 2000, Albert-Weissenberger and Sirén, 2010). Moreover, it was accounted for as of late that a isolated cryogenicity causing sore to the parietals cortices of adolescent mice causes deferred worldwide neuro-degeneration (Sirén et al., 2005). Because of epileptic exercises

Literature Review

encompassing the central injury, this strategy is likewise utilized for impersonating certain highlights of epilepsy (Lewin, 1972, Coutinho-Netto et al., 1982, Redecker et al., 2000).

The cryogenic cerebrum sore model is predominantly fitting for exploring TBI-related bloodmind boundary spillage and vasogenic mind oedema. However, this central injury model does not have the countercoup and diffuse axonal wounds that traditionally confuse human head wounds (Iverson, 2005). In this way the cryogenic mind sore model just restrictively mirrors different the clinical circumstance. Albeit models reflect increasingly precise pathophysiological normal for Traumatic brain injury, the cryogenic cerebrum sore model has been in a significant improvement: The injuries brought about due to the cryogenic damage are unmistakably bound and can be profoundly reproduces in size and area, and for pathophysiological procedures of the auxiliary sore advancement at the cortically effect sites. The peak reproducibilities of the cortically sore is especially valuable to monitor the effect of pharmacologically used medicines or quality sensation on auxiliary sore advancement after central mind damage.

### 2.7 Role of Secondary Complications in TBI

Notwithstanding essential impacts of TBI, an assortment of further factors may convolute damage including horrible hematomas (for example subdural, subarachnoid, and intraparenchymal hematomas), central or diffused cerebral oedema, raised intra-cranial weight, disruptive hydrocephalus, hypoxic-ischemic damage, and disease. Since TBI regularly happens with regards to different wounds (poly-injury) and restorative challenges, for example, volume consumption or blood misfortune, hypo perfusion, hypoxia, disease, and the issues related to it could be seen and might build post-awful transience and bleakness (Levasseur et al., 1989).

Literature Review

### 2.8 Metals:

Al is a known grown-up neurotoxic specialist (Golub and Germann. 2001) just as its neurotoxicant effects have been depicted in the developing stages likewise (Domingo, 1995, Golub and Domingo, 1996). All has been related with the aetiology of a few neuro-degenerative conditions like Parkinson's infection (Yasui et al., 1992), dementia (Forbes et al., 1995), and Alzheimer's sickness (Kawahara, 2005), however, over-whelming restorative and logical estimations are due to the discoveries out-lined above don't compellingly set up a pivotal relationship among Alumnium and neuro-degenerative illnesses (Massey and Taylor, 1989, Dakanali et al., 2003). It is conceivable that not only expanded presentation to Aluminium alone but rather the raised degree of Al might be the dynamic element in starting and irritating the pathogenicity of neuro-degenerative sicknesses (Sethi et al., 2008), yet it isn't normally acknowledged that Aluminium is a influential aspect in the etiology of such neuro-degenerative ailments in light of the fact that the careful system of Alzheimer's ailment pathogenesis stays obscure, and is still the matter is disputable (Kawahara and Kato-Negishi, 2011). Aluminium admission have being accounted for to actuate oxidative worry by forcing damage to film lipid, proteins and against oxidative chemical protection framework (Jyoti et al., 2007). Longstanding impacts of formative presentation could not be concentrated in such manner in human populaces, albeit an ongoing report recognized a postponement in neuro-development in preterm babies presented to significant concentrations of Al through parenteral liquids (Bishop et al., 1997).

Inorganic arsenic is an omnipresent metal that is utilized in wood protection, as an insecticide, in electronically gadgets because of its semi-transmitter limits and furthermore as a chemoremedial specialist (ATSDR, 2007). This metalloid effect which is recognized an epidemiologically significant common poison which could be found in arsenic containing minerals, metals and underground water. Around the world, greater than 200million of people drink water with high concentration of iAs over the World Health Organization reference estimation of 10 mg/L. Expanded centralizations of iAs can be found in ground waters in Argentina, Bangladesh, India, Mexico, Taiwan and the USA where individuals are relentlessly presented to iAs by drinking water from tainted wells because of geothermal exercises, mineral disintegration or statement and enduring of environmental volcanic particles. Deficiencies in subjective capacities as appeared by diminished insight, verbal coefficients (Calderón et al., 2001) and disabilities in learning and cognition have been connected with interminable presentation to iAs. The neurological and psychological issue appear to be subject to the fixation, timing and length of introduction (Tyler and Allan, 2014). In human and in numero us mammalian species inorganic Arsenic is decreased, methylation in the trivalency and pentavalency methylated specie and combined with glutathione (GSH). These occasions are related with the age of oxidative pressure (Kumagai and Sumi, 2007).

#### 2.9 Lead

The all-inclusive community is presented to lead from the air and sustenance in generally same extents. Lead in staple started from pots that are utilized for culinary and capacity, and lead acetic acid source had recently used to improve port wine. During the only remaining century, lead discharges to including air have additionally contaminated our condition, over half of lead emanations beginning from oil. In the course of the most recent couple of decades, in any case, lead emanations in created nations have reduced particularly because of the presentation of unleaded oil. Along these lines blood lead concentrations in the overall public have diminished.

Word related introduction to inorganic lead happens in coal face and smelters just as fusing of lead decorated metal, and in battery-operated plants. Elevated levels of air emanations may cause contamination in zones close to lead mines and smelters. Airborne lead can be kept on soil and water, in this way coming to humans via the natural way of life. Half of the inorganic lead which is breathed might be invested in the lungs. Grown-ups take up 12–15% of lead in nourishment. Lead in blood is bind to erythrocytes, and end is moderate and principally transported through urine. Lead is amassed in the skeleton, and is just gradually discharged from this body compartment. Half-existence of lead in blood is around multi month and in the skeleton 20–30 years (Järup, 2003).

In grown-ups, inorganic lead doesn't enter the blood-mind obstruction, though this boundary is less created in youngsters. The high gastrointestinal take-up and the porous blood-mind hindrance make kids particularly defenseless to lead presentation and resulting cerebrum harm. Natural lead mixes infiltrate body and cell films. Tetramethyl lead and tetraethyl lead enter the skin effectively. These mixes may likewise cross the blood-cerebrum obstruction in grownups, and in this way grown-ups may experience the ill effects of lead encephalopathy identified with intense harming by natural lead mixes.

The side effects of intense lead harming are cerebral pain, crabbiness, stomach torment and several side effects associated with the sensory system. Lead encephalopathy is portrayed by restlessness and fretfulness. Kids might be influenced by conduct unsettling influences, learning and focus troubles. In extreme instances of lead encephalopathy, the influenced individual may be experiencing the ill effects of intense psychosis, perplexity and decreased cognizance (Lidsky and Schneider, 2003). Generally, Individuals who may have been exposed to lead for quite a while may be experiencing the ill effects of memory decay, delayed response time and decreased capacity to get it. People with normal blood lead levels under 4 µmol/l may give indications of fringe nerve manifestations with diminished nerve conduction speed and decreased dermal reasonableness. In the event that the neuropathy is serious the sore might be lasting (Luo et al., 2009). The traditional picture incorporates a dull bluish lead sulfide line at the gingival edge. In less genuine cases, the most evident indication of lead harming is

unsettling influence of hemoglobin blend, and long haul lead introduction may prompt iron deficiency (Järup, 2003).

Late research work has been demonstrated that long haul low-level lead presentation in kids may likewise prompt reduced scholarly limit (Mortada et al., 2001). Intense presentation to lead exposure is identified to be associated in causing proximal renal rounded damage (Rossman, 1998)(Mortada et al., 2001).

In spite of escalated endeavors to characterize the connection among body weight of lead and circulatory strain or different impacts cause to the cardiovascular framework, no formal relationship has been exhibited in humans (Elliott et al., 1999).

Blood lead concentrations in youngsters beneath 12  $\mu$ mg/dl have been so far viewed as satisfactory, however late information demonstrate that there might be toxicologically impacts of lead at low levels of introduction than recently envisioned. There is likewise proof that specific hereditary and natural elements can expand the negative impacts of lead on neural advancement, in this manner rendering certain youngsters progressively defenseless against lead neurotoxicity (Lidsky and Schneider, 2003).

IARC arranged lead as a 'conceivable human cancer-causing agent' in light of adequate creature information and deficient human information in 1987. From that point forward a couple of studies have been distributed, the general proof for lead as a cancer-causing agent being just feeble, the probably competitors are lung malignancy, stomach disease and gliomas (Steenland and Boffetta, 2000).
Literature Review

#### 2.10 Arsenic

Arsenic is a commonly discovered metal, found to be in shake, soil, water and air. Inorganic arsenic has been found in underground water consumed for cherishing a few nations all over in the world (e.g. Bangladesh, Chile and China), though natural arsenic mixes, (for example, arsenic betaine) are principally originate in fish, which along these lines may offer ascent to human exposure (Organization, 2003).

Delivering of non-ferrous metals and the generation of vitality from petroleum product are the two significant mechanical procedures that lead to arsenic sullying of air, water and soil, purifying exercises being the biggest single anthropogenic wellspring of climatic pollution (Page et al., 1987). Different wellsprings of pollution are the creation and utilization of arsenical insecticides and wood additives.

Focuses in air in rustic territories go from 2 to 6 ng/m<sup>3</sup>, though fixations in urban communities might be as high as 210 ng/m<sup>3</sup>. A lot higher focuses (more prominent than1000 ng/m<sup>3</sup>) have been estimated close to modern sources. Water focuses are typically under 10  $\mu$ g/l, albeit higher fixations may happen close to anthropogenic sources. Levels in soils for the most part run from 5 to 45 mg/kg, yet insecticide application and waste transfer can bring about a lot higher concentrations (Annest, 1934)(Saha et al., 1999).

Retention of inorganic arsenic in breathed in airborne atoms is exceptionally subject to the dissolvability and the bulk mass of particles. Dissolvable As mixes are effectively assimilated from the gastro-intestinal tract. Be that as it may, inorganic arsenic is broadly methylated in people and the metabolites are discharged in the urine (Singh et al., 2007).

Arsenic fixations in different parts of body like blood, hair and pee etc. have been utilized as biomarkers of presentation. As in hair and nails may be used as helpful markers of past arsenic

Literature Review

introduction, if proper care is done to stay away from outer arsenic pollution of the examples. Associated metabolites in pee communicated as either iAs or the aggregate of metabolites (iAs + MMA + DMA) is commonly the best gauge of ongoing arsenic portion. Be that as it may, utilization of certain fish may perplex estimation of inorganic arsenic presentation, and should in this way be maintained a strategic distance from before pee sampling (Singh et al., 2007).

Arsenic is extremely poisonous and exposure of enormous quantities prompts gastro-intestinal signs, extreme aggravations of the cardiovascular and focal sensory systems, and in the end demise. In survivors, bone marrow sorrow, haemolysis, melanosis, polyneuropathy and encephalopathy might be watched. Ingestion of iAs may actuate fringe vascular malady, which can then cause outrageous structure prompts gangrenous changes (dark foot sickness, just revealed in Taiwan).

Populaces presented to inorganic arsenic via ingestion of water show overabundance threat of mortality from lung and kidney malignancy. There is additionally an extended danger of skin malignant growth and other skin injuries, for example, hyperkeratosis and pigmentation changes.

Concentrates on different populaces presented to arsenic by inward breath, for example, smelter laborers, insecticide producers and excavators in a wide range of nations reliably show an overabundance lung malignant growth. Albeit every one of these gatherings are presented to different synthetic substances notwithstanding arsenic, there is no other regular factor that could clarify the discoveries. The lung malignant growth hazard increments with expanding arsenic introduction in every single important investigation, and bewildering by smoking doesn't clarify the discoveries.

The most recent WHO evaluation has stated that arsenic exposure via drinking water has been casually identified with malignant growth in the lungs, kidney and skin, the remainder of which is gone before by straightforwardly perceptible precancerous injuries. Vulnerabilities in the approximation of past experiences are significant when evaluating the presentation reaction connections, however doubtlessly drinking of water containing arsenic convergences of roughly 102  $\mu$ g/l have prompted malignancy at these locales, and that antecedents of skin disease have been related with levels of 52–105  $\mu$ g/l.

The connections between the arsenic presentation and other wellbeing impacts are less identified. There is generally solid proof for the association of hypertension and cardio-vascular ailment, however the proof is intriguing for diabetes and conceptive impacts and frail for cerebrovascular malady, long haul neurological impacts, and disease at locales other than lung, kidney and skin.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 3.1 Animals:

The investigation was led on Balb/c mice, provided by the Laboratory Animal House at our institute and the mice were divided into six groups. All the animals fall in the scope of 3-4 months of age and normal weight of 30-45g during the start of the experiments.

## 3.2 **Ethical Statement:**

Endorsement of the conventions was gotten by the Internal Review board (IRB) of Attaur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences, National University of Science and Technology (NUST). At Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences, National University of Science and Technology (NUST), the mice were kept under the controlled condition. All tests applied were permitted after the decisions of the Institute of Laboratory Animal Research, Division on Earth and Life Sciences, National Institute of Health, USA (Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals: Eighth Edition, 2011).

## 3.3 **Feed**

All animals were being kept in plastic cages, under standard housing conditions with feed and water and 12-hour light/dark cycle. The mice were kept at room temperature. Around 5 mice were kept in a single confine of  $40 \text{ cm} \times 25 \text{ cm} \times 15 \text{ cm}$  measurements with wood shavings as bedding.

## 3.4 **Reagents**

Chemicals in the experiment were purchased from Scharlau, Spain. Metal treatment was given to mice by mixing their compounds in water about 20mg/kg of each metals. These compounds were also purchased which are, Aluminium chloride hexahydrate AlCl<sub>3</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, Lead acetate trihydrate Pb (CH3CO2) $2 \cdot 3$ H2O and sodium arsenate Na<sub>3</sub>AsO<sub>4</sub>.

## 3.5 Study Design

Mice of age 6-8 weeks were taken and were divided into 6 groups (table 3.1). Each group containing 12 animals. Metals 20 mg/kg treatment was given to the respective in oral doses mixed with water for the period of seven weeks after inducing trauma in them. Effects of metals were assessed then by behvariol analysis. The schematic diagram of study design is given in figure 3.1.

## 3.5.1 Groups Division

Mice were divided on the basis of treatment given. 12 mice were kept in each group. There were two control groups, one was negative control and other was positive control, and four were experimental groups as shown in table 3.1. Control was given only incision while trauma group was induced with trauma and both were treated with normal saline water. The experimental group was distributed by the treatment the get. Three groups were given individual metals treatment and fourth group was exposed to all of the three metals combine. All the metals were given orally mixed with water

Group	Name	Туре	Treatment	No of Animals
G1	Control	Non-traumatic	Normal water	12
G2	Trauma	Traumatic	Normal water	12
G3	PoTAl	Traumatic	Aluminum with water	12
G4	PoTPb	Traumatic	Lead with water	12
G5	PoTAs	Traumatic	Arsenic with water	12
G6	PoTM	Traumatic	Aluminum + Arsenic + lead with	12
			water	

Table 3-1: Group distribution and their treatment

G1 = Group 1, G2 = Group 2, G3 = Group 3, G4 = Group 4, G5 = Group 5, G6 = Group 6, PoTA1 = Post Trauma aluminium treatment, PoTPb = Post trauma lead treatment, PoTAs = Post trauma arsenic treatment, PoTM = Post trauma metals mixture treatment



Figure 3-1: schematic representation of the study.

### 3.6 Traumatic Brain Injury

Trauma were induced by using weight drop model. Traumatic brain injury was induced in mice using the procedure described by (Chen et al., 1996). First of all the animals were given anaesthesia and a longitudinal incision was implemented by using the scalp in order to expose the skull. Mice have been positioned on a platform under the rod in weight drop instrument. Focal brain injury in the skull was induced by using a metal rod of 334 g (with a blunt tip ) which was freely drop from a height of 3 cm on the exposed skull (producing final impact of 0.065 J). After inducing injury, the incision was locked using silk sutures and animals were then allowed for recovery.

### 3.7 Injections and Anaesthesia

Anesthesia was injected intraperitoneally via insulin syringes (30 gauge×0.3mm×8mm needle). Xylazine and ketamine were used as an anesthesia. Mice to be injected were carefully restrained by holding its tail into fingers. Thumb and forefinger were used to make tent of skin over the scruff and then the needle was inserted at the anterior end. Material was gently injected. As the animals were given multiple injections for 8 days, injections were given at alternate sites.

#### 3.8 Metals Treatment

Metals were mixed in normal doses of drinking water. Control and Trauma group of mice were given normal drinking water while 20 mg/kg doses of Aluminium, Lead and Arsenic were given to group 3-5 i.e. PoTAl, PoTPb, PoTAs, respectively. And 20mg/kg of each metal were given to metal mix group of mice i.e. PoTM. Metals treatment was started from the first day of experiment and was given for 6 weeks after inducing traumatic brain injury. Metals treatment was also continued during performing of behaviour tests in week 7-8.

## 3.9 Neurological Severity Score (NSS)

NSS were done in the first week after trauma and in the seventh week after exposure to metals. Neurological Severity Score (NSS) was being recorded at 4h, 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and lastly at 1000h post injury. Motor functions and reflexes of traumatically injured mice were examined at a particular time period by evaluating NSS. The parameters and scoring paradigm of NSS is shown in Table 3.2.

# Table 3-2 NSS scoring

Function	Parameters			
	Straight walk (0-2)			
	Surface righting reflex (0-1)			
	Twisting (0-3)			
	Beam walk (0-3)			
Vestibulo-Motor	Beam balance (0-3)			
	Round stick balance (0-1)			
	Wire suspension test (0-6)			
	Hemi-Monoparesis (0-1)			
	Flexion reflex (0-1)			
	Pinna reflex (0-1)			
Sensory Reflexes	Corneal reflex (0-1)			
	Acoustic startle response (0-1)			
	Exit circle (0-1)			
Cognitive	Seeking behavior (0-5)			

NSS = Neurological severity score

#### 3.10 Behavioral Analysis

Behavior tests were performed on mice after 7 week of trauma. Behaviors were performed during the light cycle of mice i.e. between 9am to 6pm, just to avoid the possible variability because of the circadian rhythm. In a separate behavior room mice were left for some time to familiarize with the environment before performing the test. The room was properly lit and the temperature was maintained at  $25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. Any sort of disturbance or human interference was kept to the minimum level. An interval of at least 30 minutes was kept between performing different behavior tests.

#### 3.10.1 Morris Water Maze Test (MWM)

The test was originally developed by Richard G. M. Morris (Morris, 1984). It's performed to put spatial learning and reference memory to test in rodents that depends upon distal cues to navigate from specific start locations of an open swimming arena to locate a submerged escape platform. The protocol was elaborated by Bromley-Brits (Bromley-Brits et al., 2011), with a few modifications as described below. Morris water maze was performed in circular tank containing hidden platform. The water temperature was maintained at  $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C.

# 3.10.1.1 Training

For five consecutive days the mice were put to training to locate the hidden platform. The mice had to undergo five trials session each day, by releasing them in the tank from different points in each trial, as shown in table 2.2. A gap of ten minutes was kept between each session. Each mouse was being allowed to locate the platform for at least 90 seconds in each trial. If the mice were unable to locate the platform for ninety seconds, they were then manually placed onto the platform for an additional twenty seconds. If they found the

platform within 90 seconds and sat on it for at least five seconds, the time was recorded and trial was considered over.

# 3.10.1.2 Probe trail

A single probe trial was performed after Morris water maze test on day 6 for all mice. All the procedure was same as MWM except for that the platform was removed and the mice were being released to the tank, trying to locate the platform. The trial was recorded with a camera, and was analysed for the number of entries to the target quadrant, time spent to search for the platform in the target quadrant and number of crossing of mice in the area where platform was supposed to be placed.

No. of Days	Release Direction						
	Trial 1	Trail 2	Trail 3	Trail 4	Trail 5		
Day 1	West	South	North	East	South		
Day 2	North	West	East	West	South		
Day 3	North	East	West	South	North		
Day 4	East	South	West	East	North		
Day 5	West	South	North	East	North		
Day 6	Probe Trial without Platorm. Release direction, West.						

# Table 3-3 the direction release of the mice for Morris Water Maze test

#### 3.10.2 Open Field Test:

Open field test is being used to evaluate locomotory and exploratory activity as well as anxiety levels in mice (Gould et al., 2009). Spending more time in the centre of the arena and rearing on the side walls depicts exploratory activity, while grooming behaviour indicates stress and anxiety; the quicker the mice are to begin grooming in the arena, the more the anxious they are (Komorowska and Pisula, 2003, Negishi et al., 2005). Animals were placed in a square shaped arena (40x40x40cm) and their activity was recorded with a camera for 30 minutes. The apparatus was thoroughly cleaned after each mouse, so that the behaviour of next mouse would not be affected. The following parameters were assessed during the test.

- Total time spent by each mouse in the centre and peripheral area of the arena for entire 30 minutes. Mice preferring peripheral region are more likely to be depressed and more anxious. The mice crossing the line from peripheral region to central region shows more locomotor and exploratory activity and hence having low anxiety levels.
- The number of times the mice reared on their hind-paws and the time when the mice started to display grooming behaviour by licking parts of their body (grooming latency). These two parameters were measured for the first and last 5 minutes of the experiment, to compare how the mice adopt to new environment.

#### 3.10.3 Novel Object Recognition (NOR)

The learning and memory was assessed. It measures the short term memory by assessing mice capability to memorize its encounter with the object. The test focuses on the idea that mice will expend extra time exploring and investigating the novel object with which it has no interaction in familiarization session. The NOR protocol earlier described by (Silvers et al., 2007) was adopted with few adjustments. The test has been carried out in a square

#### Chapter 3

box which was made-up of iron with dimension of 40cm × 40cm × 40cm. Mice were familiarized to the box for five minutes, during Open Field Test to avoid bias based on intrinsic anxiety in new spaces. The test consisted of two trials. In the first trial, which is known as acquisition trial, after habituation two objects of approximately consistent height and volume but different shapes were placed equidistant to each other. Subject mice were placed in the middle of box and permitted to explore and interact with the objects for ten minutes in acquisition period. Twenty minutes after acquisition period, Test trial was performed. The whole protocol was identical as familiarization session except for that one of the two objects from familiarization was replaced by a novel object. In test session, mice were allowed to investigate both objects for ten minutes. This trial was videotaped to calculate the time the mouse spent exploring each object. Sniffing and voluntarily touching the object was considered interaction. The discrimination index has been determined through:

[(Time Spent on the Novel Object/Total Time)  $\times$  100]

#### **3.10.4** Elevated Plus Maze (EPM)

It's used to evaluate an anxiety type, whether the anxiety was provoked by open places, in addition to height. The elevated apparatus (50 cm) consisted of 4 arms (30x5cm each). Two arms had 22 cm walls around them while other two arms projected without walls making a plus sign shape. Mice were left in the center of the maze, permitted to move freely in the maze for five minutes. Trial was documented by using camera to establish the total time the mouse spent in each arm along with the number of entries the mice had made in each arm. The pr otocol was adopted from (Walf and Frye, 2007) with few modifications.

#### 3.10.5 Fear Conditioning

The test protocol was the same as (Dineley et al., 2010) with slight modification. The procedure was started by placing the mice in the chamber for five minutes for habituation process to avoid any depression and anxiety level due to new environment. The test protocol was comprised of five tones of 80 db, each tone lasting for 30 sec called as conditioned stimulus, which is followed by 1-s 0.5-mA foot shock. These shocks were given with an interval of 3 min. The reaction to the Conditioned Stimulus was analysed as freezing response. Freezing response was measured with the help of ANY-maze software. Each freezing response against the tone was being expressed in percentage by using the following formula.

% freezing = 
$$\frac{\text{time of freezing}}{30 \text{ s}} \times 100$$

#### 3.10.6 Contextual Fear Conditioning

Contextual fear Test is done on the next day of fear conditioning to evaluate fear memory retrieval of the mice. The procedure as same as fear conditioning. The freezing response is assessed in the absence of shock stimulus for five minutes interval. Freezing response is expressed as

% freezing 
$$=\frac{\text{time of freezing}}{5 \text{ min}} \times 100$$

#### 3.11 Statistical Analysis

Statistics of the data was made by means of GraphPad Prism Software (Version 5.03). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test and Bonferroni multiple comparison test to the data as the statistical tool for the analysis. P value less than 0.05 was considered significant. The data was shown as mean  $\pm$  Standard Error of Mean (SEM).

# **RESULTS**

To evaluate how much the metal treatment effect the recovery and outcome from traumatic brain injury different behavioural test were conducted. Morris Water Maze, Neurological severity Score, Fear conditioning and fear context were performed to check retrieval of memory formation. Elevated pus maze test and open field test was conducted to check the levels of anxiety and depression in mice after traumatic brain injury.

## 4.1 Effect of metals exposure after Trauma on cognitive behaviour

Neurological Severity Scoring (NSS) at particular time after traumatic brain injury was measured to evaluate the effect of metals after traumatic brain injury on cognition and motor abilities. All of the trauma induced mice showed distinct impairments in neurological performance at post 4h post-injury depicting the severity of injury. However, Steady progress in neurological performance was observed in all the groups during observation period of 24h, 48h, and 120h. However the metal treated group showed a little progress in NSS.



Figure 4-1 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on cognition (a) the line graph shows comparison of neurological severity score of different groups Contol, Trauma, PoTAl, PoTA, PoTPb and PoTM at 4h, 24h, 48h, 120h and 1000h. (b) The bar chart shows severity score of different groups at 1000h. Data is represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

### 4.2 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on learning and memory

#### 4.2.1 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on spatial memory

Morris water maze was performed for cognitive and behavioral assessment. Effect of metals after traumatic brain injury on spatial learning and memory was checked. Repeated training enabled the mice to acquire an escape response to the hidden platform. Average escape latency of mice to reach the hidden platform determined the development of a strong memory. During acquisition all the groups showed a significant improvement to day 1 (5.75 $\pm$ 1.2 sec); While the escape latency time at day 5 of Trauma, PoTAl, PoTPb, PoTAs and PoTM were 9.33 $\pm$ 1.4, 28.71 $\pm$ 9.22, 11.57 $\pm$ 3.6, 11.1 $\pm$ 2.5, 6.8 $\pm$ 1.2 (P value < 0.001) respectively.

After two days of the training probe trial was implemented for assessment of reference memory. The platform has been detached for the probe trial to evaluate memory retrieval. And it was done by measuring total time spending in required quadrant, number of entrances to the required quadrant and quantity of platforms crossing at the location where platform was placed during training session.

Control spent the most time as compared to the meals treated groups (P<0.05). Both the control and trauma groups had the most number of entries into the target quadrant, showing sharp reference memory for the platform. The number of times the mice crossed the location where platform was previously present was also recorded to further confirming the reference memory for the platform, and the metals treated group especially metals mixed treated group has lowest number of platform crossing (P<0.001).



Figure 4-2 Effects of metal exposure after trauma on spatial memory (a) The graph showing escape latency (sec) of the Control (Sham), Trauma (Traumatic), PoTAl (Aluminium treated), PoTPb (Lead treated), PoTAs (Arsenic treated) and PoTM (metals mixed treated), training across 5 days acquiring spatial memory to locate hidden platform. Error bars shows mean  $\pm$  SEM for two-way ANOVA. (b) The bar chart shows the escape latency of different groups at the last day of training.



Figure 4-3: Morris Probe Trail (a) shows mean time spent (sec) by the mice in the target quadrant (b) shows number of times mice crossed the location of the platform (c) number of entries made by the mice to the target quadrant. The error bars represents mean  $\pm$  SEM.

### 4.2.2 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on fear memory

Fear conditioning determines fear memory acquisition by evaluating percentage freezing across five cue foot shock trails. Freezing response is measured by analysing percentage freezing among the groups as well as across the five cues foot shock trails. Control group showed high freezing response (Mean value  $43 \pm 3.66$ ) as compared to metals mixed treated group (mean value  $23.26 \pm 4.26$ )(P<0.01). In fear context memory is acquired based on fear conditioning test. It tests if the animal remembers the environment linked to fear to which it is already exposed or not. Similar to fear conditioning freezing response is analysed in this test without the conditioned stimulus.



**Figure 4-4: Effects of metals exposure on fear memory** (a) Figure showing amygdala dependent fear memory acquisition across all five tone trails in all groups (b)Freezing response at tone 5 (c) This graph shows percentage freezing to determine fear memory acquisition

## 4.3 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on recognition memory

Spatial memory and exploratory behaviour was determined using novel object recognition test. Metals treated groups showed low interaction time with the novel object while control groups showed high interaction time with novel object. Discrimination index showed significantly lower (P<0.01) object recognition memory in metals treated groups.



Figure 4-5 Effect of metals exposure on object recognition memory: (a) Comparison between different group interaction with similar objects in familiarization session (b) Interaction with novel object (c) Discrimination index of different groups. Data represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

# 4.4 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on anxiety

## 4.4.1 Effects of metals exposure after trauma on anxiety and activity

Anxiety induced by open spaces and height was assessed in elevated plus maze. Number of entries to open arm and time spent in the open and closed arm had been used to evaluate anxiety and depression behaviour in mice. Control groups spent greater time in open arm suggesting low level of anxiety and depression while metals treated groups spent lower time in open arm showing high level of anxiety and depression. The data was non-significant.



Figure 4-6 Effects of metals exposure on anxiety and activity: (a) shows total time spent by the mice in open arm and closed arm (b) Number entries to the closed arm. Data was analysed by two way ANOVA. Data is shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

## 4.4.2 Effect of metals exposure on anxiety and exploratory activity

Open field test had been used to evaluate the effects of metals on anxiety and exploratory behavior in a traumatic brain injury mouse model of neurotoxicity. Time spent in the center, number of rearings and grooming latency were the parameters recorded for this test. The control and traumatic groups spent significantly less time in the centre of the arena  $(430 \pm 22)$ , as compared with the metals treated groups  $(230 \pm 33)$ (figure 4.7) suggesting low levels of anxiety and depressive behavior( P<0.01). Number of rearing was also greater in control group from metals treated group showing that control have less depression and anxiety than metals treat group (P<0.001).



**Figure 4-7 Effects of metals exposure on anxiety and exploration:** (a) time spent at the centre and periphery of the arena (b) number of rearings of different groups at first and last 5 minutes of the test (c) total groaming time of all the groups during first and last 5 minutes of the test.

#### DISCUSSION

Animals model provide significant insights on treatment approaches fitting to a disease. In this study of traumatic brain injury are extensively examined by using weight drop model of traumatic brain injury. Numbers of animal models for TBI have been established over many decades to study clinical conditions associated with traumatic brain injury (Johnson et al., 2015). Traumatic brain injury pathology is quite complex and diverse (Finnie and Blumbergs, 2002); structural damage strongly correlate with the type of the injury. In the present study, diffuse brain injury was produced in mice and metal treatment was given to study the effect it causes after brain injury.

Heavy metals especially aluminium, arsenic and lead have long been known to produce cognitive deficits in humans and these effects have been verified and studied in animal models. Main sources of these metals include of drinking of water from industrial areas. The present study focuses on how these metals effect the traumatic brain injury outcomes and how their individual effects is differ from their combination effect.

NSS is the product of a test battery focused on interest, motor ability and reflexes. It was widely used to gage cognitive disorders following traumatic brain injury in rats in non-clinical studies. The NSS analysis indicated a decrease in intracranial and cerebral oedema due to osmotic therapy, improvement in motor coordination, responding to auditory stimulus and vigilance. (Rao and Lyketsos, 2000, Khandelwal et al., 2017) works shows impairment in subsequent to weight drop injury mice displace various neuropsychiatric deficits that are common in traumatic brain injury such as motor and sensory functions impairment loss of reflexes, cognitive deficits and impaired emotionality (Rao and Lyketsos, 2000). Neurological severity score (NSS) was utilized to determined immediate neurological deficits. NSS is based on multiple of tests that examine motor skills, reflexes and inquisitiveness; it is widely used in non-clinical studies to measure the neurological deficits after traumatic brain injury in rodents

(Khandelwal et al., 2017). All groups showed marked impairments at 4h post injury which depicted the severity of injury.

Control group severity score at 120h showed a decrease compared to the Trauma group and metals treated traumatic groups showing no decrease. Exposure of metals was found to potentiate the motor impairment caused by trauma. Their combined effect yielded deficits than their individual effect, suggesting that they potentiate the effect of each other in causing malfunctioning of pathways mediating motor abilities, while motor deficits remain the most common sequalae of TBI, a few studies have reported the exposure of metals like Al and As also impaired locomotor and vestibular activity to some extent (Rodriguez et al. 2012, Yadav et al. 2009). Testing of NSS suggests that chronic exposure to non-toxic metals dose of metals worsen the trauma impaired motor and sensory skills and delays recovery.

Learning and memory retrieval of Morris Water Maze test were used to assess spatial memory retrieval in rodents. Sham group acquired spatial memory across the training days, and their escape latency decreased on the fourth and final day to reach the platform as cited by (Morris, 1984). (SCHEFF et al., 1997) work resembles the work for our project showing that TBI group resulting in longer escape latency time and also significantly deficited in search time. Similarly, for metals treated groups the escape latency decrease rate was slow on the third and final day (Chen et al., 2015), findings show that mice that were treated with metals did show decreased escape latency on 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> day of training. No improvement was seen in learning in first two days of treatment with metals. Similar results were observed in our experiment; as the mice treated revealed no learning on first day but a gradual decrease in escape latency after Day 2 (Morales et al., 2005).

In the probe trials, spatial memory retrieval has been evaluated on the basis of their training in Morris water maze test by assessing their performances in the target quadrant by removing hidden platform. Metals treated groups performed the worst among all groups; displaying an impaired spatial memory recall and impaired hippocampal activity compared to control groups in probe trial. Metals treated groups had elevated escape latency depicting an impaired hippocampal activity.

Open field test has been used to evaluate exploratory behaviour, hyperactivity and anxiety. When placed in a symmetrical arena, mice may desire to stay near the periphery, and travel to the centre in explore the arena. An anxious mouse will not spend time exploring the surrounding, instead it will display grooming behaviour, licking parts of its body in anxiousness; an active mouse will occasionally move to the centre and rear on its hind-paws to explore, and showing late grooming behaviour. A hyper active mouse will spend more of its time in the centre and display more rearing and will spend less time in the periphery (Negishi et al., 2005). The results from this test are consistent with MWM, in the respect that metals treated group exhibited that most irregular behaviour for time spent in the centre of arena, in this test as well, compared to other: trauma group as well as Control. Although a pattern was observed, there was, however no significant difference recorded among the activity levels of any group.

Metals treated groups spent lesser time in the centre than Control. Similar findings were extracted from the number of rearing as well for aluminium, arsenic and lead groups. Control group showed the most exploration in comparison to all other groups. Combination metals treated group exhibited the least exploration via rearing; this may suggest that probably potentiate their effect to decreases the urge to explore the environment and show vertical activity.

Latency to exhibit grooming behaviour measures anxiety levels; late grooming shows low levels of anxiety. The results overall indicate that control group was the most active group eager to and explore show vertical activity, while the metals treated groups showed performance differ than Control, spending moderate amount of time in the center as well as rearing to the walls of the arena. What this may suggest is that metals exposure decreases the urge to explore the environment compared to control, induces anxiety in mice as shown by the results of groom in latency.

The Novel Object Recognition based memory test has been widely used model for the assessment of memory retrieval. Although, it can be constituted to analyze working memory, attention, anxiety, and inclination for novelty in rodents (Andersson et al., 1999). Mice and rats have tendency to interact less with the familiar object and more with the novel objects. Object recognition is distinguished by the amount of time spent interacting with the novel object (Ben-Yishay and Diller, 1993). Control group showed an improved recognition memory and spent approximately same time with the object in familiarization as well as the test task. Our results consistent with the previously reported findings TBI are in that no such statistical variations are found in the object exploration index in the test sessions compared to the training session, suggesting a memory deficit (Moojen et al., 2012). TBI markedly decreased the object based memory formation. This impairment was potentiated by metal exposure evident by the minimal difference between the time spent with the familiar and novel object. Metals in combination seem to enhance the blocking of memory formation in lateral inferior parietal cortex and affect object recognition as chronic administration of metals mixture before trauma resulted on highly diminished ability to recognize between the two objects (Buchsbaum et al., 2015).

Trauma and metal exposure causes significant decrease in formation of fear memory. While memory impaired due to trauma tends to improve during successive tones and fear stimuli, exposure of target metals slow down the rate of fear memory improvement where the most significant impairment was shown by the lead. Pb partly suppresses neurogenesis and changes of the differentiation pattern of other newly formed cells, this action is implicated in inhibition of fear memory formation (Jaako-movits et al., 2005).

Metals exposure in trauma produced a marked failure in development of context based memory compared to sham operated mice. While aluminium and lead augmented the trauma induced deficit, the freezing response in arsenic treated mice suggests its opposite behaviour where As repaired the memory decline in injured mice. Though (Cicerone et al., 2000)reported. As to impair fear based and context memory formation equally. Combination of metals yielded similar results as As treated group where it could be responsible for suppressing the contextual memory impairing effect of aluminium and lead.

Elevated plus maze allowed evaluation of the locomotor, depressive and anxiogenic effects of trauma and metal exposure in mice which are controlled by the cortex, hippocampus and amygdala. Control mice spent highest amount of time in open arm showing least anxiety and had fair locomotion into the alternate open and closed arms. Anxiety like behaviors are commonly seen in mice with TBI (Petraglia et al., 2014), however, Luo and colleagues reported contradictory results where trauma caused no change in activity of mice in elevated plus maze test compared to control (Luo et al., 2014).

Glutamatergic and cholinergic signalling play important role in mediating the process of learning, memory formation, retrieval and other cognitive function (Blokland, 1995, Myhrer, 2003). Cognitive system is majorly controlled by the cholinergic signalling comprising of muscarinic and nicotinic receptors reacting to neurotransmitter acetylcholine and glutamatergic signalling reacting through glutamate and controlled by metabotropic and ionotropic receptors. A balanced glutamatergic signalling is required for normal cognitive functioning, learning and memory are likely due to the neurodegenerative and auto protective pathways activated as a result of chronic metal exposure and TBI.

# CONCLUSION

Metal Exposure alters the pathways involved in sensorimotor function, cognition and memory potentiating the cognitive inhibitory effects of brain injury. Combined exposure of metals Al, Pb and As yield results different from their exclusive exposure, they either potentiate or suppress their individual effect on traumatic brain injury. Non-toxic doses of metals on chronic exposure produce long lasting neurological deficits, augmenting the effects of brain injury after trauma.

# **FUTURE ASPECTS**

In vitro verification of these findings to confirm the role of environmental metal exposure on Traumatic brain injury outcomes. Development of treatment regime is needed for Traumatic brain injury considering the interfering role played by metals. Further investigation should be conceded on for the assessment of the neuronal effects of metals in combination instead of their individual effects.

# REFERENCES

- Abu-Taweel GM, Ajarem JS, Ahmad M (2012) Neurobehavioral toxic effects of perinatal oral exposure to aluminum on the developmental motor reflexes, learning, memory and brain neurotransmitters of mice offspring. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 101:49-56.
- Adelson PD, Whalen M, Kochanek P, Robichaud P, Carlos T (1998) Blood brain barrier permeability and acute inflammation in two models of traumatic brain injury in the immature rat: a preliminary report. In: Intracranial Pressure and Neuromonitoring in Brain Injury, pp 104-106: Springer.
- air pollution by As A (2000) Cd and Ni compounds, Position paper, final version. European Commission DG Environment.
- Albert-Weissenberger C, Sirén A-L (2010) Experimental traumatic brain injury. Experimental & translational stroke medicine 2:16.
- Allen G, Gerami D, Esser M (2000) Conditioning effects of repetitive mild neurotrauma on motor function in an animal model of focal brain injury. Neuroscience 99:93-105.
- Andersson S, Krogstad J, Finset A (1999) Apathy and depressed mood in acquired brain damage: relationship to lesion localization and psychophysiological reactivity. Psychological medicine 29:447-456.
- Andrási E, Páli N, Molnár Z, Kösel S (2005) Brain aluminum, magnesium and phosphorus contents of control and Alzheimer-diseased patients. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 7:273-284.
- Annest JL (1934) Trends in the blood level leads of the US population: The Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES II) 1976–1980. Lead Versus Health, John Wiley & Sons, New York 33-58.
- Arciniegas DB, Lauterbach EC, Ginsberg DL, Anderson KE, Chow TW, Flashman LA, Hurley RA, Kaufer DI, McAllister TW, Reeve A (2005) The differential diagnosis of pseudobulbar affect (PBA): distinguishing PBA among disorders of mood and affect. CNS spectrums 10:1-16.
- Armstrong CW, Stroube RB, Rubio T, Siudyla EA, Miller GB (1984) Outbreak of fatal arsenic poisoning caused by contaminated drinking water. Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal 39:276-279.
- ATSDR A (2007) Toxicological Profile for Arsenic, PHS. US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Bellander B-M, von Holst H, Fredman P, Svensson M (1996) Activation of the complement cascade and increase of clusterin in the brain following a cortical contusion in the adult rat. Journal of neurosurgery 85:468-475.
- Ben-Yishay Y, Diller L (1993) Cognitive remediation in traumatic brain injury: update and issues. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 74:204-213.
- Binder LM, Rohling ML, Larrabee GJ (1997) A review of mild head trauma. Part I: Meta-analytic review of neuropsychological studies. Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology 19:421-431.
- Bishop NJ, Morley R, Day JP, Lucas A (1997) Aluminum neurotoxicity in preterm infants receiving intravenous-feeding solutions. New England Journal of Medicine 336:1557-1562.
- Bolla KI, Briefel G, Spector D, Schwartz BS, Wieler L, Herron J, Gimenez L (1992) Neurocognitive effects of aluminum. Archives of Neurology 49:1021-1026.
- Bondy SC (2010) The neurotoxicity of environmental aluminum is still an issue. Neurotoxicology 31:575-581.
- Bordey A, Hablitz JJ, Sontheimer H (2000) Reactive astrocytes show enhanced inwardly rectifying K+ currents in situ. Neuroreport 11:3151-3155.
- Calderón J, Ortiz-Pérez D, Yáñez L, Díaz-Barriga F (2003) Human exposure to metals. Pathways of exposure, biomarkers of effect, and host factors. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 56:93-103.
- Carbonell WS, Grady MS (1999) Regional and temporal characterization of neuronal, glial, and axonal response after traumatic brain injury in the mouse. Acta neuropathologica 98:396-406.
- Carbonell WS, Maris DO, McCALL T, Grady MS (1998) Adaptation of the fluid percussion injury model to the mouse. Journal of neurotrauma 15:217-229.
- Cernak I (2005) Animal models of head trauma. NeuroRx 2:410-422.
- Chau DT, Roth RM, Green AI (2004) The neural circuitry of reward and its relevance to psychiatric disorders. Current psychiatry reports 6:391-399.
- Chen SF, Hsu CW, Huang WH, Wang JY (2008) Post-injury baicalein improves histological and functional outcomes and reduces inflammatory cytokines after experimental traumatic brain injury. British journal of pharmacology 155:1279-1296.
- Chen Y, CONSTANTINIS, TREMBOVLER V, WEINSTOCK M, SHOHAMI E (1996) An experimental model of closed head injury in mice: pathophysiology, histopathology, and cognitive deficits. Journal of neurotrauma 13:557-568.
- Chen Y, Zhang Y, Li L, Hölscher C (2015) Neuroprotective effects of geniposide in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. European journal of pharmacology 768:21-27.
- Chimakurthy J, Murthy TE (2010) Effect of curcumin on quinpirole induced compulsive checking: An approach to determine the predictive and construct validity of the model. N Am J Med Sci 2:81-86.
- Christen Y (2000) Oxidative stress and Alzheimer disease. The American journal of clinical nutrition 71:621S-629S.

- Christoforidou EP, Riza E, Kales SN, Hadjistavrou K, Stoltidi M, Kastania AN, Linos A (2013) Bladder cancer and arsenic through drinking water: a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A 48:1764-1775.
- Cicerone KD, Dahlberg C, Kalmar K, Langenbahn DM, Malec JF, Bergquist TF, Felicetti T, Giacino JT, Harley JP, Harrington DE (2000) Evidence-based cognitive rehabilitation: recommendations for clinical practice. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 81:1596-1615.
- Control CfD (1991) Preventing lead poisoning in young children: a statement: The Centers.
- Cory-Slechta D (1995) Relationships between lead-induced learning impairments and changes in dopaminergic, cholinergic, and glutamatergic neurotransmitter system functions. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology 35:391-415.
- Coutinho-Netto J, Boyar M, Abdul-Ghani A, Bradford H (1982) In Vivo Inhibition of Incorporation of [U-14U] Glucose into Proteins in Experimental Focal Epilepsy. Epilepsia 23:383-389.
- Dail WG, Fenney DM, Murray HM, Linn RT, Boyeson MG (1981) Responses to cortical injury: II. Widespread depression of the activity of an enzyme in cortex remote from a focal injury. Brain research 211:79-89.
- Dakanali M, Raptopoulou CP, Terzis A, Lakatos A, Banyai I, Kiss T, Salifoglou A (2003) A novel dinudear species in the aqueous distribution of aluminum in the presence of citrate. Inorganic chemistry 42:252-254.
- Dhillon H, Donaldson D, Dempsey R, Prasad MR (1994) Regional levels of free fatty acids and Evans blue extravasation after experimental brain injury. Journal of neurotrauma 11:405-415.
- Diazbarriga F, Santos MA, Mejia J, Batres L, Yanez L, Carrizales L, Vera E, Delrazo LM, Cebrián ME (1993) Arsenic and cadmium exposure in children living near a smelter complex in San Luis Potosı, Mexico. Environmental Research 62:242-250.
- Dineley KT, Kayed R, Neugebauer V, Fu Y, Zhang W, Reese LC, Taglialatela G (2010) Amyloid-β oligomers impair fear conditioned memory in a calcineurin-dependent fashion in mice. Journal of neuroscience research 88:2923-2932.
- Ding JY, Kreipke CW, Speirs SL, Schafer P, Schafer S, Rafols JA (2009) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α signaling in aquaporin upregulation after traumatic brain injury. Neuroscience letters 453:68-72.
- Dixon CE, Clifton GL, Lighthall JW, Yaghmai AA, Hayes RL (1991) A controlled cortical impact model of traumatic brain injury in the rat. Journal of neuroscience methods 39:253-262.
- Dixon CE, Lyeth BG, Povlishock JT, Findling RL, Hamm RJ, Marmarou A, Young HF, Hayes RL (1987) A fluid percussion model of experimental brain injury in the rat. Journal of neurosurgery 67:110-119.

- Dixon R, Sigal I, Strader C (1988) Structure-function analysis of the β-adrenergic receptor. In: Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, vol. 53, pp 487-497: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Domingo JL (1995) Reproductive and developmental toxicity of aluminum: a review. Neurotoxicology and teratology 17:515-521.
- Dubas T, Stevenson A, Singhal R, Hrdina P (1978) Regional alterations of brain biogenic amines in young rats following chronic lead exposure. Toxicology 9:185-190.
- Elliott MB, Jallo JJ, Tuma RF (2008) An investigation of cerebral edema and injury volume assessments for controlled cortical impact injury. Journal of neuroscience methods 168:320-324.
- Elliott P, Arnold R, Barltrop D, Thornton I, House IM, Henry JA (1999) Clinical lead poisoning in England: an analysis of routine sources of data. Occup Environ Med 56:820-824.
- Eriskat J, Fürst M, Stoffel M, Baethmann A (2003) Correlation of lesion volume and brain swelling from a focal brain trauma. In: Brain Edema XII, pp 265-266: Springer.
- Faden AI, Demediuk P, Panter SS, Vink R (1989) The role of excitatory amino acids and NMDA receptors in traumatic brain injury. Science 244:798-800.
- Feeney DM, Boyeson MG, Linn RT, Murray HM, Dail WG (1981) Responses to cortical injury: I. Methodology and local effects of contusions in the rat. Brain research 211:67-77.
- Finnie J, Blumbergs P (2002) Traumatic brain injury. Veterinary pathology 39:679-689.
- Flierl MA, Stahel PF, Beauchamp KM, Morgan SJ, Smith WR, Shohami E (2009) Mouse closed head injury model induced by a weight-drop device. Nature protocols 4:1328.
- Floyd CL, Golden KM, Black RT, Hamm RJ, Lyeth BG (2002) Craniectomy position affects morris water maze performance and hippocampal cell loss after parasagittal fluid percussion. Journal of neurotrauma 19:303-316.
- Forbes WF, Gentleman JF, Maxwell CJ (1995) Concerning the role of aluminum in causing dementia. Experimental gerontology 30:23-32.
- Franzblau A, Lilis R (1989) Acute arsenic intoxication from environmental arsenic exposure. Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal 44:385-390.
- Freedman P, Bleiberg J, Freedland K (1987) Anticipatory behaviour deficits in closed head injury. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry 50:398-401.
- Ghajar J (2000) Traumatic brain injury. The Lancet 356:923-929.
- Giralt M, Penkowa M, Lago N, Molinero A, Hidalgo J (2002) Metallothionein-1+2 protect the CNS after a focal brain injury. Experimental neurology 173:114-128.

- Goebel HH, Schmidt PF, Bohl J, Tettenborn B, Krämer G, Gutmann L (1990) Polyneuropathy due to acute arsenic intoxication: biopsy studies. Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology 49:137-149.
- Golub MS, Domingo JL (1996) What we know and what we need to know about developmental aluminum toxicity. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health Part A 48:585-598.
- Golub MS, Germann SL (2001) Long-term consequences of developmental exposure to aluminum in a suboptimal diet for growth and behavior of Swiss Webster mice. Neurotoxicology and teratology 23:365-372.
- Holmin S, Schalling M, Höjeberg B, Nordqvist A-CS, Skeftruna A-K, Mathiesen T (1997) Delayed cytokine expression in rat brain following experimental contusion. Journal of neurosurgery 86:493-504.
- Hoshino S, Tamaoka A, Takahashi M, Kobayashi S, Furukawa T, Oaki Y, Mori O, Matsuno S, Shoji Si, Inomata M (1998) Emergence of immunoreactivities for phosphorylated tau and amyloid-β protein in chronic stage of fluid percussion injury in rat brain. Neuroreport 9:1879-1883.
- Hunt RF, Scheff SW, Smith BN (2009) Posttraumatic epilepsy after controlled cortical impact injury in mice. Experimental neurology 215:243-252.
- Iverson GL (2005) Outcome from mild traumatic brain injury. Current opinion in psychiatry 18:301-317.
- Järup L (2003) Hazards of heavy metal contamination. British medical bulletin 68:167-182.
- Johnson VE, Meaney DF, Cullen DK, Smith DH (2015) Animal models of traumatic brain injury. In: Handbook of clinical neurology, vol. 127, pp 115-128: Elsevier.
- Jyoti A, Sethi P, Sharma D (2007) Bacopa monniera prevents from aluminium neurotoxicity in the cerebral cortex of rat brain. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 111:56-62.
- Kant R, Duffy J, Pivovarnik A (1998) Prevalence of apathy following head injury. Brain Injury 12:87-92.
- Kaufmann AM, Cardoso ER (1992) Aggravation of vasogenic cerebral edema by multiple-dose mannitol. Journal of neurosurgery 77:584-589.
- Kawahara M (2005) Effects of aluminum on the nervous system and its possible link with neurodegenerative diseases. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 8:171-182.
- Kawahara M, Kato-Negishi M (2011) Link between aluminum and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease: the integration of the aluminum and amyloid cascade hypotheses. International journal of Alzheimer's disease 2011.
- Khandelwal VK, Singh P, Ravingerova T, Gregory M, Gandhi H, Chaudhary M (2017) Comparison of different osmotic therapies in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. Pharmacological Reports 69:176-184.

Kofke AW (1993) Mannitol: potential for rebound intracranial hypertension? : LWW.

- KOSHINAGA M, KATAYAMA Y, FUKUSHIMA M, OSHIMA H, SUMA T, TAKAHATA T (2000) Rapid and widespread microglial activation induced by traumatic brain injury in rat brain slices. Journal of neurotrauma 17:185-192.
- Laurer HL, McIntosh TK (1999) Experimental models of brain trauma. Current opinion in neurology 12:715-721.
- Lehtonen S, Stringer AY, Millis S, Boake C, Englander J, Hart T, High W, Macciocchi S, Meythaler J, Novack T (2005) Neuropsychological outcome and community re-integration following traumatic brain injury: the impact of frontal and non-frontal lesions. Brain Injury 19:239-256.
- Leinhase I, Holers VM, Thurman JM, Harhausen D, Schmidt OI, Pietzcker M, Taha ME, Rittirsch D, Huber-Lang M, Smith WR (2006) Reduced neuronal cell death after experimental brain injury in mice lacking a functional alternative pathway of complement activation. BMC neuroscience 7:55.
- Levasseur JE, Patterson JL, Ghatak NR, Kontos HA, Choi SC (1989) Combined effect of respiratorinduced ventilation and superoxide dismutase in experimental brain injury. Journal of neurosurgery 71:573-577.
- Lewin E (1972) The production of epileptogenic cortical foci in experimental animals by freezing. Experimental Models of Epilepsy 37-49.
- Lidsky TI, Schneider JS (2003) Lead neurotoxicity in children: basic mechanisms and clinical correlates. Brain 126:5-19.
- Lindh C, Wennersten A, Arnberg F, Holmin S, Mathiesen T (2008) Differences in cell death between high and low energy brain injury in adult rats. Acta neurochirurgica 150:1269.
- Luo J-h, Qiu Z-q, Shu W-q, Zhang Y-y, Zhang L, Chen J-a (2009) Effects of arsenic exposure from drinking water on spatial memory, ultra-structures and NMDAR gene expression of hippocampus in rats. Toxicology letters 184:121-125.
- Marmarou A, Foda MAA-E, Van Den Brink W, Campbell J, Kita H, Demetriadou K (1994) A new model of diffuse brain injury in rats: Part I: Pathophysiology and biomechanics. Journal of neurosurgery 80:291-300.
- Marshall LF (2000) Head injury: recent past, present, and future. Neurosurgery 47:546-561.
- Massey R, Taylor D (1989) Aluminium in Food and the Environment.
- Mathias JL, Wheaton P (2007) Changes in attention and information-processing speed following severe traumatic brain injury: a meta-analytic review. Neuropsychology 21:212.
- Mattson AJ, Levin HS (1990) Frontal lobe dysfunction following closed head injury. Journal of Nervous and mental Disease.

- Mattson MP, Scheff SW (1994) Endogenous neuroprotection factors and traumatic brain injury: mechanisms of action and implications for therapy. Journal of neurotrauma 11:3-33.
- McAllister TW (2011) Neurobiological consequences of traumatic brain injury. Dialogues in clinical neuroscience 13:287.
- McINTOSH TK, Noble L, Andrews B, Faden AI (1987) Traumatic brain injury in the rat: characterization of a midline fluid-percussion model. Central Nervous System Trauma 4:119-134.
- McMillan T, Glucksman E (1987) The neuropsychology of moderate head injury. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry 50:393-397.
- Members ATF, McMurray JJ, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD, Auricchio A, Böhm M, Dickstein K, Falk V, Filippatos G, Fonseca C (2012) ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute and Chronic Heart Failure 2012 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. European journal of heart failure 14:803-869.
- Meredith PA, McIntosh MJ, Petty MA, Reid JL (1988) Effects of lead exposure on rat brain catecholaminergic neurochemistry. Comparative biochemistry and physiology C, Comparative pharmacology and toxicology 89:215-219.
- Meyer-Baron M, Schäper M, Knapp G, van Thriel C (2007) Occupational aluminum exposure: evidence in support of its neurobehavioral impact. Neurotoxicology 28:1068-1078.
- Mikawa S, Kinouchi H, Kamii H, Gobbel GT, Chen SF, Carlson E, Epstein CJ, Chan PH (1996) Attenuation of acute and chronic damage following traumatic brain injury in copper, zinc—superoxide dismutase transgenic mice. Journal of neurosurgery 85:885-891.
- Morales DM, Marklund N, Lebold D, Thompson H, Pitkanen A, Maxwell W, Longhi L, Laurer H, Maegele M, Neugebauer E (2005) Experimental models of traumatic brain injury: do we really need to build a better mousetrap? Neuroscience 136:971-989.
- Mortada W, Sobh M, El-Defrawy M, Farahat S (2001) Study of lead exposure from automobile exhaust as a risk for nephrotoxicity among traffic policemen. American journal of nephrology 21:274-279.
- Nawashiro H, Messing A, Azzam N, Brenner M (1998) Mice lacking GFAP are hypersensitive to traumatic cerebrospinal injury. Neuroreport 9:1691-1696.
- O'Jile JR, Ryan LM, Betz B, Parks-Levy J, Hilsabeck RC, Rhudy JL, Gouvier WD (2006) Information processing following mild head injury. Archives of clinical neuropsychology 21:293-296.
- Olivo T, Sierra A, Cebrian M, Díaz-Barriga F, Rodríguez I, Santos M, Carrizales L, Rojas M (1995) Neurologic alterations in children exposed to arsenic, lead and cadmium in San Luis Potosi, Mexico. In: International Congress on Hazardous Waste: Impact on Human and Ecological Health, pp 5-8.

- OMMAYA AK (1995) Head injury mechanisms and the concept of preventive management: a review and critical synthesis. Journal of neurotrauma 12:527-546.
- Organization WH (2003) Arsenic in drinking-water: background document for development of WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality. World Health Organization.
- Page A, Chang A, El-Amamy M, Duce R, Turner D, Hart B, Lake P, Wong M, Lasheen M, Stokes P (1987) Lead, mercury, cadmium and arsenic in the environment.
- Pappius H (1981) Local cerebral glucose utilization in thermally traumatized rat brain. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society 9:484-491.
- Peden M (2005) Global collaboration on road traffic injury prevention. International journal of injury control and safety promotion 12:85-91.
- Penkowa M, Giralt M, Carrasco J, Hadberg H, Hidalgo J (2000) Impaired inflammatory response and increased oxidative stress and neurodegeneration after brain injury in interleukin-6-deficient mice. Glia 32:271-285.
- Pierce J, Trojanowski JQ, Graham DI, Smith DH, McIntosh TK (1996) Immunohistochemical characterization of alterations in the distribution of amyloid precursor proteins and betaamyloid peptide after experimental brain injury in the rat. Journal of Neuroscience 16:1083-1090.
- Pifarré P, Prado J, Giralt M, Molinero A, Hidalgo J, Garcia A (2010) Cyclic GMP phosphodiesterase inhibition alters the glial inflammatory response, reduces oxidative stress and cell death and increases angiogenesis following focal brain injury. Journal of neurochemistry 112:807-817.
- Pitkänen A, Immonen RJ, Gröhn OH, Kharatishvili I (2009) From traumatic brain injury to posttraumatic epilepsy: what animal models tell us about the process and treatment options. Epilepsia 50:21-29.
- RAGHUPATHI R, GRAHAM DI, McINTOSH TK (2000) Apoptosis after traumatic brain injury. Journal of neurotrauma 17:927-938.
- Rákos G, Kis Z, Nagy D, Lür G, Farkas T, Hortobágyi T, Vécsei L, Toldi J (2007) Evans Blue fluorescence permits the rapid visualization of non-intact cells in the perilesional rim of cold-injured rat brain. Acta neurobiologiae experimentalis 67:149-154.
- Rao V, Lyketsos C (2000) Neuropsychiatric sequelae of traumatic brain injury. Psychosomatics 41:95-103.
- Raslan F, Schwarz T, Meuth SG, Austinat M, Bader M, Renné T, Roosen K, Stoll G, Sirén A-L, Kleinschnitz C (2010) Inhibition of bradykinin receptor B1 protects mice from focal brain injury by reducing blood-brain barrier leakage and inflammation. Journal of cerebral blood flow & metabolism 30:1477-1486.

- Rassovsky Y, Satz P, Alfano MS, Light RK, Zaucha K, McArthur DL, Hovda D (2006) Functional outcome in TBI II: verbal memory and information processing speed mediators. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology 28:581-591.
- Redecker C, Luhmann HJ, Hagemann G, Fritschy J-M, Witte OW (2000) Differential downregulation of GABAA receptor subunits in widespread brain regions in the freeze-lesion model of focal cortical malformations. Journal of Neuroscience 20:5045-5053.
- Rodri<sup>′</sup> guez LAGa, az SHD, De Abajo FJ (2001) Association between aspirin and upper gastrointestinal complications: systematic review of epidemiologic studies. British journal of clinical pharmacology 52:563-571.
- Rossman TG (1998) Molecular and genetic toxicology of arsenic. In: Environmental Toxicology, pp 187-204: CRC Press.
- Ruff RM, Levin HS, Mattis S, High Jr WM, Marshall LF, Eisenberg HM, Tabaddor K (1989) Recovery of memory after mild head injury: A three-center study.
- Saha J, Dikshit A, Bandyopadhyay M, Saha K (1999) A review of arsenic poisoning and its effects on human health. Critical reviews in environmental science and technology 29:281-313.
- Schuhmann MU, Mokhtarzadeh M, Stichtenoth DO, Skardelly M, Klinge PM, Gutzki FM, Samii M, Brinker T (2003) Temporal profiles of cerebrospinal fluid leukotrienes, brain edema and inflammatory response following experimental brain injury. Neurological research 25:481-491.
- Sethi P, Jyoti A, Singh R, Hussain E, Sharma D (2008) Aluminium-induced electrophysiological, biochemical and cognitive modifications in the hippocampus of aging rats. Neurotoxicology 29:1069-1079.
- Shapira Y, Shohami E, Sidi A, Soffer D, Freeman S, Cotev S (1988) Experimental closed head injury in rats: mechanical, pathophysiologic, and neurologic properties. Critical care medicine 16:258-265.
- Shohami E, Shapira Y, Cotev S (1988) Experimental closed head injury in rats: prostaglandin production in a noninjured zone. Neurosurgery 22:859-863.
- Silver JM, Yudofsky SC, Hales RE (1994) Neuropsychiatry of traumatic brain injury: American Psychiatric Association.
- Singh N, Kumar D, Sahu AP (2007) Arsenic in the environment: effects on human health and possible prevention. Journal of Environmental Biology 28:359.
- Sirén A-L, Radyushkin K, Boretius S, Kämmer D, Riechers C-C, Natt O, Sargin D, Watanabe T, Sperling S, Michaelis T (2005) Global brain atrophy after unilateral parietal lesion and its prevention by erythropoietin. Brain 129:480-489.

- Smith DH, Lowenstein DH, Gennarelli TA, McIntosh TK (1994) Persistent memory dysfunction is associated with bilateral hippocampal damage following experimental brain injury. Neuroscienceletters 168:151-154.
- Smith DH, Okiyama K, Thomas MJ, Claussen B, McINTOSH TK (1991) Evaluation of memory dysfunction following experimental brain injury using the Morris water maze. Journal of neurotrauma 8:259-269.
- SMITH DH, SOARES HD, PIERCE JS, PERLMAN KG, SAATMAN KE, MEANEY DF, DIXON CE, McINTOSH TK (1995) A model of parasagittal controlled cortical impact in the mouse: cognitive and histopathologic effects. Journal of neurotrauma 12:169-178.
- Soares HD, Thomas M, Cloherty K, McIntosh TK (1992) Development of prolonged focal cerebral edema and regional cation changes following experimental brain injury in the rat. Journal of neurochemistry 58:1845-1852.
- Spain A, Daumas S, Lifshitz J, Rhodes J, Andrews PJ, Horsburgh K, Fowler JH (2010) Mild fluid percussion injury in mice produces evolving selective axonal pathology and cognitive deficits relevant to human brain injury. Journal of neurotrauma 27:1429-1438.
- Statler K, Scheerlinck P, Pouliot W, Hamilton M, White H, Dudek F (2009) A potential model of pediatric posttraumatic epilepsy. Epilepsy research 86:221-223.
- Steenland K, Boffetta P (2000) Lead and cancer in humans: where are we now? American journal of industrial medicine 38:295-299.
- Stoffel M, Blau C, Reinl H, Breidt J, Gersonde K, Baethmann A, Plesnila N (2004) Identification of brain tissue necrosis by MRI: validation by histomorphometry. Journal of neurotrauma 21:733-740.
- Tashlykov V, Katz Y, Gazit V, Zohar O, Schreiber S, Pick CG (2007) Apoptotic changes in the cortex and hippocampus following minimal brain trauma in mice. Brain research 1130:197-205.
- Tengvar C, Olsson Y (1982) Uptake of macromolecules into neurons from a focal vasogenic cerebral edema and subsequent axonal spread to other brain regions. Acta neuropathologica 57:233-235.
- Thompson HJ, Lifshitz J, Marklund N, Grady MS, Graham DI, Hovda DA, McIntosh TK (2005) Lateral fluid percussion brain injury: a 15-year review and evaluation. Journal of neurotraum a 22:42-75.
- Tweedie D, Milman A, Holloway HW, Li Y, Harvey BK, Shen H, Pistell PJ, Lahiri DK, Hoffer BJ, Wang Y (2007) Apoptotic and behavioral sequelae of mild brain trauma in mice. Journal of neuroscience research 85:805-815.
- UHL MW, BIAGAS KV, GRUNDL PD, BARMADA MA, SCHIDING JK, NEMOTO EM, KOCHANEK PM (1994) Effects of neutropenia on edema, histology, and cerebral blood flow after traumatic brain injury in rats. Journal of neurotrauma 11:303-315.

- Vakil E (2005) The effect of moderate to severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) on different aspects of memory: a selective review. Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology 27:977-1021.
- Vink R, Mullins PG, Temple MD, Bao W, Faden AI (2001) Small shifts in craniotomy position in the lateral fluid percussion injury model are associated with differential lesion development. Journal of neurotrauma 18:839-847.
- von Ehrenstein OS, Poddar S, Yuan Y, Mazumder DG, Eskenazi B, Basu A, Hira-Smith M, Ghosh N, Lahiri S, Haque R (2007) Children's intellectual function in relation to arsenic exposure. Epidemiology 18:44-51.
- W. Finnie PCB, Jim Manavis, Tammy D. Utteridge, Val Gebski, Jeffrey G Swift, Barrie Vernon-Roberts, Timothy R. Kuchel, John (2001) Effect of global system for mobile communication (gsm)-like radiofrequency fields on vascular permeability in mouse brain. Pathology 33:338-340.
- Wasserman WW, Sandelin A (2004) Applied bioinformatics for the identification of regulatory elements. Nature Reviews Genetics 5:276.
- Whyte J, Polansky M, Cavallucci C, Fleming M, Lhulier J, Coslett HB (1996) Inattentive behavior after traumatic brain injury. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society 2:274-281.
- Yamaki T, Murakami N, Iwamoto Y, Sakakibara T, Kobori N, Ueda S, Uwahodo Y, Kikuchi T (1998) Cognitive dysfunction and histological findings in rats with chronic-stage contusion and diffuse axonal injury. Brain Research Protocols 3:100-106.
- Yilmaz N, Dulger H, Kiymaz N, Yilmaz C, Gudu BO, Demir I (2007) Activity of mannitol and hypertonic saline therapy on the oxidant and antioxidant system during the acute term after traumatic brain injury in the rats. Brain research 1164:132-135.
- Zohar O, Schreiber S, Getslev V, Schwartz J, Mullins P, Pick C (2003) Closed-head minimal traumatic brain injury produces long-term cognitive deficits in mice. Neuroscience 118:949-955.